IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-661

SCA EFiled: Feb 03 2025
05:06PM EST
Transaction ID 75567384

COROTOMAN, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

CENTRAL WEST VIRGINIA REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY, INC.,

Respondent.

*Upon Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the
Fourth Circuit, Case No. 23-1873*

OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONER COROTOMAN, INC.

Mark R. Sigmon
(*pro hac vice pending*)
MILBERG COLEMAN BRYSON
PHILLIPS GROSSMAN, PLLC
900 West Morgan Street
Raleigh, NC 27603
(919) 600-5000
msigmon@milberg.com

James C. Wright
(Wv. Bar No. 6816)
HARTLEY LAW
GROUP, PLLC
7 Pine Avenue
Wheeling, WV 26003
(304) 233-0777
jwright@hartleylawgroup.com

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Corotoman, Inc. owns certain parcels of land next to the Yeager Airport in Charleston. Beginning in the mid-2000's, the airport sought to improve its services by removing a hilltop on Corotoman's land that was impeding the flightpath. After negotiations, Corotoman and the airport agreed to a contract that: (a) allowed the airport to remove the hilltop, in exchange for (b) the airport "overblasting" the land, meaning blasting below a specified elevation or a designated final grade and flattening the area, and the parties swapping certain parcels of land.

Corotoman performed its obligations, and the airport removed the hilltop that was impeding the flightpath, so the airport received the entire benefit of its bargain with Corotoman. But the airport materially breached its obligations to Corotoman by failing to overblast the land and never swapping the parcels of land.

Corotoman sued. The federal district court, after rejecting each of the airport's defenses, concluded as a matter of law that the airport had breached the contract by failing to overblast and failing to swap the land.

As to damages for breach of the overblasting obligation, the contract provided for, and Corotoman elected to recover, what is the standard measure of expectation damages in a construction case in West Virginia: the cost to complete the work, meaning here the cost to overblast the land. And to simplify that issue, Corotoman accepted the cost for that projected by the airport's own expert witness: \$4,381,080.

The federal court, however, awarded zero in damages after applying the "gross disproportionality" doctrine, which allows a court to award the alternative measure of damages of diminution in value of the property at issue if the cost to complete the work is grossly disproportionate to that diminution in value. In so holding, the court first placed on the airport the burden to establish the existence of gross disproportionality, after which it shifted the burden to

Corotoman to establish diminution in value—even though diminution in value is the denominator of the gross disproportionality ratio and is therefore necessary to determine whether gross disproportionality exists in the first place. The court then held that the airport carried its burden to establish gross disproportionality, based entirely on an appraisal created 13 years earlier for another purpose that could not prove any diminution in value because it did not even attempt to establish the two numbers necessary for proving diminution in value: (a) the current value of the land as is, and (b) the current value of the land had the overblasting occurred. The court then held that Corotoman failed to carry its supposed burden to establish diminution in value because there was, undisputedly, no evidence at all of diminution in value.

Each of those holdings was an error of law. First, under the gross disproportionality doctrine, the airport had the burden to establish the existence of gross disproportionality—meaning that it had to show that the undisputed cost-to-complete damages sought by Corotoman were much greater than the alternative measure of damages of diminution in value, which *the airport* had the burden to establish, not Corotoman. The overwhelming weight of case law from around the country, and the treatises, show exactly that.

Second, the airport failed to carry that burden because, as the federal court properly acknowledged, neither party had presented any evidence of diminution in value. The court simply punished the wrong side for that lack of evidence. And the appraisal that the court relied on to supposedly show gross disproportionality cannot as a matter of law show the diminution in value, both because of its age and because it didn't value the things that needed to be valued to show diminution in value.

Corotoman appealed, asking the Fourth Circuit to reverse and remand with instructions to enter judgment for \$4,381,080, the undisputed amount of the standard measure of cost-to-complete

damages that Corotoman sought and proved, or to reverse and remand with instructions for the district court to apply the correct law.

The Fourth Circuit, recognizing that this Court has never explicitly adopted the gross disproportionality doctrine or explained how it works, certified questions of law to this Court, asking whether the doctrine exists in West Virginia and how it is defined. This Court should adopt the doctrine and define it exactly how it has been defined across the country. As noted above, that means that the defendant has the burden to establish gross disproportionality, and specifically the denominator of that ratio—the alternative measure of damages of diminution in value. And if the defendant fails to carry that burden, then the plaintiff is awarded the cost-to-complete measure of damages that it sought and proved. This Court, after properly defining the doctrine, can then leave it to the Fourth Circuit to actually apply the doctrine to the facts of this case.

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit certified the following questions of law to this Court:

- I. In the appropriate case, would West Virginia courts apply the gross disproportionality rule to limit an injured party's damages in a breach of a construction contract dispute?
- II. If so: (a) how is gross disproportionality calculated, (b) which party (the breaching party or the injured party) bears the burden of proving gross disproportionality and the specific amount of the alternative form of damages, and (c) what is the consequence of that party failing to meet its burden?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- I. **The Airport sought to condemn land owned by Corotoman, but the parties negotiated a contract instead.**

In the mid-2000s, the Central West Virginia Regional Airport (the “Airport”), which operates the Yeager Airport in Charleston, West Virginia, decided to remove an obstruction near

the airport that was hampering aircraft departures and approaches and costing the airport almost \$2 million per year. JA1462 (Vol. VII), JA1488-1489 (Vol. VII). The costly obstruction was a large knoll located at the end of one of the airport's runways. JA1462 (Vol. VII). Because of the knoll's location, the FAA required airplanes to gain elevation at fast rates immediately after takeoff to provide a sufficient margin of safety in the event of post-takeoff engine trouble. JA1462 (Vol. VII). On average, about 50 feet (and as much as 110 feet) needed to be sheared off the hilltop to eliminate the FAA restrictions. JA1462 (Vol. VII). The plan was to blast the hilltop, loosening up 1.3 million cubic yards of earth that would be hauled away to provide the needed airspace. JA1462 (Vol. VII).

To accomplish the obstruction removal project, the Airport obtained grants from the FAA to fund both the acquisition of real property (i.e., buying the knoll and the surrounding area) and the construction work. JA1491-1493 (Vol. VII). The Airport used a consultant, O.R. Colan Associates, Inc., to handle the land acquisition by valuing the parcels of land that it needed to acquire and preparing offers for property owners. JA1490 (Vol. VII). Once the Airport had an estimate of acquisition costs, that locked in the amount of the FAA grants for property acquisition. JA1492-1493 (Vol. VII). If a property owner decided not to sell their land and the Airport had to seek ownership through eminent domain (as a local/state government entity), the FAA would not amend the amount of the grant to cover the legal costs of eminent domain. JA1493 (Vol. VII). Thus, the Airport aimed to acquire the property voluntarily and avoid costly and time-consuming condemnation proceedings. JA1495-1497 (Vol. VII), JA1506-1508 (Vol. VII).

The largest single property owner in the obstruction removal area was a local development company, Corotoman, which owned more than 15 acres of land in and around the knoll. JA1462 (Vol. VII), JA2270 (Vol. XIV). To prepare an offer of just compensation to Corotoman, O.R. Colan hired Eugene Zdrojewski to appraise Corotoman's land. JA1945 (Vol. VIII), JA1962-1965 (Vol.

VIII). Mr. Zdrojewski assessed the value of the land in 2010 before the knoll was flattened as part of the obstruction removal project. JA2020-2092 (Vol. IX-XII), JA1968-1970 (Vol. VIII), JA1974 (Vol. VIII). Mr. Zdrojewski valued Corotoman's land at \$186,000. JA2021 (Vol. IX). Mr. Zdrojewski testified that the appraisal had a "shelf-life" of about 30 days based on industry standards. JA1969-1972 (Vol. VIII).

In February of 2011, the Airport, in a letter signed by the airport's director, Richard Atkinson, offered Corotoman \$260,125 for its land. JA1465-1467 (Vol. VII). Corotoman's president, John Wellford, knew that the offer of \$260,125 was egregiously low given the potential development value of the land, and so he rejected the offer. JA1498-1499 (Vol. VII), JA1711-1717 (Vol. VIII), JA1725-1726 (Vol. VIII).

Instead of seeking condemnation, Mr. Atkinson resolved to work with Corotoman to make the obstruction removal project happen while Corotoman retained ownership of the property. This approach was for the Airport's own benefit because it wanted to avoid lengthy and costly condemnation proceedings, which would delay matters. JA1507-1508 (Vol. VII). The Airport was always free to condemn Corotoman's land, but it chose instead to contract with Corotoman. JA442 (Vol. IV).

Because the parties reached an agreement on the terms of a contract allowing the Airport to remove the obstruction and permitting Corotoman to retain ownership of the land, Corotoman did not obtain an appraisal of its property. JA1386 (Vol. VII).

The Airport was aware that the FAA would have to approve various aspects of the deal. In May of 2011, before the contract was signed, Mr. Atkinson, who apparently had spoken to the FAA, sent an email to Corotoman's attorney stating that the FAA was "agreeable" to the type of deal that the parties were proposing. JA136-137 (Vol. II).

II. The contract between Corotoman and the Airport.

On July 5, 2012, Corotoman and the Airport entered into a Settlement Agreement that provided for the parties to swap certain parcels and for Corotoman to provide an avigation easement over its land, as well as for a License and Work Agreement (“LWA”) that would allow the Airport to enter Corotoman’s land and remove the obstruction and then overblast. JA437-521 (Vol. IV). The Settlement Agreement focused on the ownership of the land involved in the project, JA438-439 (Vol. IV), and the LWA focused on the construction work that would be performed, JA448 (Vol. IV). In essence, the agreements provided that the Airport could remove the obstruction in exchange for overblasting the land and then swapping the parcels.

A. Key provisions of the Settlement Agreement.

At the outset, the Settlement Agreement states:

The Airport Authority and Corotoman have agreed upon the terms of a settlement, in lieu of condemnation, that (1) meets the needs of the Airport Authority, (2) fairly and adequately compensates Corotoman for the property interests which it agrees to relinquish and for the severance damages that such relinquishment will cause to the value of Corotoman’s remaining property, and (3) is acceptable to both parties.

JA438 (Vol. IV). It affirmatively acknowledges Corotoman’s responsibilities:

In lieu of condemnation, Corotoman agrees to grant a license for certain work to be performed on certain real property currently owned by Corotoman and to grant an easement for the passage of aircraft over certain real property. As fair and just compensation for said rights, including severance damages to Corotoman’s remaining property rights, *the Airport Authority agrees to perform certain work on certain real property owned by Corotoman, exchange certain other real property with Corotoman, and reimburse Corotoman for the severance damages caused by the Airport Authority’s acquisition of property rights under this Settlement Agreement.*

JA439 (Vol. IV) (emphasis added).

Section 6.01 of the Settlement Agreement states the agreement is the full and final resolution of all disputes arising out of the threatened condemnation. JA442 (Vol. IV). That section is reinforced in a later merger clause. JA442 (Vol. IV).

The Settlement Agreement explicitly provides for the execution of the LWA “regarding the Airport Authority’s blasting, excavating, and grading” of Corotoman’s property. JA439 (Vol. IV). Regarding the performance of that obligation as well as of the land swap, the Settlement Agreement contains a force majeure clause asserting: “In no event shall financial inability or acts or omissions within the control of the party seeking an excuse or extension be a cause for excuse or extension hereunder.” JA443-444 (Vol. IV).

The Settlement Agreement also explicitly provides that the Airport had the obligation to obtain all necessary licenses and governmental approvals for the project, including from the FAA and for the land swap. JA444 (Vol. IV).

B. Key provisions of the License and Work Agreement.

The LWA allowed the Airport to conduct the obstruction removal project on Corotoman’s land. The Agreement describes the purpose of the project as follows:

[I]n order to completely and safely utilize the Avigation Easement, the grade and elevation of the Project Site and surrounding real property that is now owned or will be acquired by the Airport Authority must be altered by excavating, blasting, grading, removing the surface thereof, and/or other similar work (said alteration of the grade and elevation of the Project Site and surrounding property interests herein collectively referred to as the “Project”).

JA447 (Vol. IV). The parties agreed that the project would begin by December 31, 2012 and be completed no later than 24 months after commencement, recognizing that time is of the essence. JA448 (Vol. IV). Thus, the work should have been completed on or before December 31, 2014.

The LWA also outlines additional work that the Airport agreed to perform as part of the

obstruction removal project for the benefit of Corotoman. In addition to directing that the project be completed in accordance with specific grading and construction plans, the LWA details the two primary components of the project: (1) bringing the final grade of the knoll to at least 10 feet below the elevation of the planned aviation easement; and (2) overblasting at least 35 feet below the final grade. JA448 (Vol. IV).

Overblasting is blasting below a specified elevation or a designated final grade. JA1159 (Vol. VI), JA1771 (Vol. VIII). Holes are drilled to the required depth and explosives are placed and detonated. JA1779 (Vol. VIII). In this case, the parties agreed that the 35-foot overblast would be performed immediately after the obstruction removal project was completed and the knoll was leveled to the final grade to comply with FAA climb-out regulations. JA448 (Vol. IV), JA1166 (Vol. VI). When overblasting occurs, the land stays in place but swells in height; the material is then removed to meet the final grade requirements. JA1159 (Vol. VI), JA1165-1166 (Vol. VI).

Like the Settlement Agreement, the LWA provided that the Airport was required to obtain all necessary licenses and governmental approvals for the project, including from the FAA and for the land swap (but not for the overblasting, which did not require FAA approval). JA450 (Vol. IV).

The LWA also provided that if the Airport breached the contract, Corotoman could choose the greater of its actual or liquidated damages:

15. Effect of Breach. Failure by the Airport Authority to strictly abide by the terms and conditions set forth in this Work Agreement shall constitute a material breach of the Agreement. The parties acknowledge that any breach by the Airport Authority occurring after commencement of the Project will cause significant harm to Corotoman, including lost profits, revenue, and rents; loss of the use of Corotoman's property; potential third-party litigation costs, including attorney's fees and court costs; and annoyance and inconvenience. Therefore, in event of a breach occurring after commencement of the Project, Corotoman may, in its discretion and as the circumstances reasonably dictate, revoke the License granted herein and/or seek the greater of either (1) actual, compensatory,

consequential, and/or incidental damages or (2) liquidated damages in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) per breach.

...

JA451 (Vol. IV).

Like the Settlement Agreement, the LWA contains a force majeure clause providing that financial inability is no excuse for not completing the 35-foot overblast. JA452 (Vol. IV).

III. The Airport breached the contract by failing to perform the overblast and swap the parcels.

Even though the Settlement Agreement required work to begin by December 31, 2012, and due to issues with the need for rebidding parts of the project in the summer of 2012, JA1565-1566 (Vol. VII), the obstruction removal project did not begin until November of 2013, JA1149 (Vol. VI). Corotoman permitted the Airport and its contractors to enter Corotoman's land per the terms of the Settlement Agreement. JA439 (Vol. IV).

About halfway through the project, in August or September of 2014, Corotoman's president Mr. Wellford asked Steve Cvechko, the primary contractor for the obstruction removal project, about the overblast and when it would be performed. JA1153-1154 (Vol. VI), JA1828 (Vol. VIII). Mr. Cvechko and Mr. Wellford then asked Mr. Atkinson, the Airport's director, about the overblast. JA1154-1155 (Vol. VI), JA1827 (Vol. VIII). At that point, in late 2014, the knoll had been flattened almost to the final grade, and all of the equipment necessary to do the overblast was still onsite. JA1828 (Vol. VIII), JA1299 (Vol. VI). An overblast is performed after the land has been brought down to the finished grade, JA1828 (Vol. VIII), and it is efficient to overblast with the existing equipment immediately after the grade is finished, JA1298-1299 (Vol. VI).

The obstruction removal project was completed in mid-2015. JA1155 (Vol. VI). The engineers, blasters, and contractors packed up their equipment and left, and airplanes began flying free and clear over the now-flattened knoll. JA1291 (Vol. VI). But the 35-foot overblast had not

been performed. JA1296 (Vol. VI). The Airport later claimed that its contractor walked off without overblasting because there was no meeting of the minds as to overblasting and thus it wasn't required by the LWA, and because underground utility lines posed an unforeseen risk, excuses that the district court later rejected. JA1291 (Vol. VI), JA1296 (Vol. VI).

By the time its contractor walked off the job, the Airport had spent more than \$17 million on the obstruction removal project and completed every physical aspect of the work except for the overblast. JA1937 (Vol. VIII). The Airport achieved all of its own goals—to remove the knoll, expand operations, and create cost savings for airlines—but it failed to provide the benefit of the bargain to Corotoman.

What's more, the Airport never swapped the parcels with Corotoman. At the time it didn't explain that, but it later claimed that the FAA refused to allow the swap as proposed. JA1121 (Vol. VI). However, the Airport's failure to get FAA approval—as required by the contract—was due to its own mistakes and errors, so much so that the Airport crossclaimed against its own lawyers for legal malpractice for failing to obtain that approval, seeking as damages the amount that it might owe to Corotoman. JA1320-1327 (Vol. VI).¹

IV. Corotoman sued the Airport for failing to perform the overblast and swap the parcels.

Corotoman filed suit against the Airport in 2019, alleging breach of contract. JA18 (Vol. II). Corotoman later amended its complaint. JA39-360 (Vol. II-IV). The Airport asserted 17 affirmative defenses in response, including mutual mistake and impracticability, but when it came to damages, the Airport did not assert any type of disproportionality defense. JA361-432 (Vol. IV).

¹ That crossclaim later settled, but none of that settlement money has been paid to Corotoman, meaning that thus far the Airport has *profited* from its own breach of contract.

V. The Airport first tried to defend its breach by contending that the parties never formed a contract, but the district court rejected that.

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