NO. 24-661

SCA EFiled: Mar 05 2025
07:31PM EST
Transaction ID 75777347

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

COROTOMAN, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

CENTRAL WEST VIRGINIA REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY,

Respondent.

**ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT**

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Submitted by:

Mychal S. Schulz, Esquire (WVSB #6092)
Austin D. Rogers, Esquire (WVSB #13919)
Babst, Calland, Clements & Zomnir, P.C.
300 Summers Street, Suite 1000
Charleston, WV 25301
681-205-8888
681-205-8814 fax
mschulz@babstcalland.com
arogers@babstcalland.com

Counsel for Respondent Central West Virginia Regional Airport Authority

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Certified Question No. 1 - The Gross Disproportionality Rule

This Court should remove any doubt as whether West Virginia law recognizes application of the gross disproportionality rule to breach of contract claims, including breach of construction contract claims. Specifically, the Court should confirm that, under West Virginia law, a non-breaching party to a construction contract may only recover the cost to complete construction if that cost is not grossly disproportionate to the value of the property subject to the contract, as recognized in Steinbrecher v. Jones, 153 S.E.2d 295, 304 (W. Va. 1967), and again in Trenton Constr. Co., Inc. v. Straub, 310 S.E.2d 496, 499 (W. Va. 1983).

B. Certified Question No. 2 - The Burden of Proof under the Gross Disproportionality Rule

Similarly, this Court should clarify that, under West Virginia law, the party claiming damages for a breach of contract bears the burden of proving its legally permissible damages, whether those legally permissible damages represent cost of completing the construction or the diminution in value of the property because of the breach of contract, and if that party fails to do so, it should be awarded nominal or no damages.

V. RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Rule 20(a)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Airport Authority submits that the certified questions presented in this matter warrant oral argument as the Fourth Circuit clearly views these issues as matters of first impression under West Virginia law. Further, given the importance of these issues to the Airport Authority and the region it serves, the decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Section 51-1A-3 of the West Virginia Code provides that “[t]he supreme court of appeals of West Virginia may answer a question of law certified to it by any court of the United States . . . if the answer may be determinative of an issue in a pending cause in the certifying court and if there is no controlling appellate decision, constitutional provision or statute of this state.” W. Va. Code § 51-1A-3. While the Court may reformulate a certified question, W. Va. Code § 51-1A-4, it may not answer a question that is not dispositive of a claim or necessary to the decision of the case. See Kincaid v. Magnum, 432 S.E.2d 74, Syl. Pt. 3 (W. Va. 1993) (noting that the court may reformulate a certified question) and State ex rel. Advance Stores Co. v. Recht, 230 W. Va. 464, 740 S.E.2d 59, 63–64 (2013) (court will not answer a certified question that is not necessary).

This Court applies a *de novo* standard in addressing legal issues presented by certified question from a federal court. Leggett v. EQT Co., 800 S.E.2d 850 (W. Va. 2017).

B. Prefatory Statement

Corotoman expends considerable space unnecessarily and inappropriately arguing the merits of its appeal of the District Court’s Order currently pending before the Fourth Circuit. Petitioner’s Opening Brief at 30 – 40. In fact, it begins the title of Section IV of its Opening Brief as follows: “Although this Court need not reach this issue . . .” Opening Brief at 30. Thereafter, it argues what it asks the Fourth Circuit – not this Court – to do. It even closes its 10-page missive by stating: “In any event, this Court need not and should not analyze the 2010 appraisal or the specific facts of this case. Instead, . . . the Court should simply answer the certified questions of law and let the Fourth Circuit do the rest.” Opening Brief at 40. Unlike Corotoman, the Airport Authority will not delve into matters that do not, and should not, impact the purely legal issues before this Court. The Airport Authority fully briefed the merits of this case (*i.e.*, the application

of the law to the facts) before the Fourth Circuit and will not repeat those arguments here as this Court need only consider the issues of law presented by the certified questions regarding the gross disproportionality rule and the burden of proof for proving damages pursuant to that rule under West Virginia law.

C. Certified Question No. 1: Would West Virginia courts apply the gross disproportionality rule to limit an injured party's damages in a breach of a construction contract dispute?

Answer: Yes.

Notwithstanding the Fourth Circuit's certified question, this Court recognized the gross disproportionality rule over fifty years ago and stated that the alternative rule for measuring damages for breach of contract claims is to be used "where extensive reconstruction is necessary at a cost grossly disproportionate to the value of the [property]." Steinbrecher v. Jones, 153 S.E.2d 295, 304 (W. Va. 1967). See also Trenton Constr. Co., Inc. v. Straub, 310 S.E.2d 496, 499 (W. Va. 1983) (same). Despite arguing vociferously before the District Court and the Fourth Circuit that West Virginia does not recognize the gross disproportionality rule, Corotoman has now reversed course. Petitioner's Opening Brief at 21 ("Corotoman *agrees* that the doctrine does or should exist in West Virginia law.") (emphasis added). As a result, both the Airport Authority and Corotoman urge this Court to answer the first certified question in the affirmative.

The Airport Authority concedes, as it did before both the District Court and the Fourth Circuit, that the "usual" or "standard" measure of compensatory damages in breach of construction contract claims is the cost of completing the work.¹⁰ Critically, however, courts – including West

¹⁰ The District Court noted that it "is less convinced that the Settlement Agreement and License and Work Agreement is properly construed, in its entirety, as a construction contract." JA 2278. The Airport Authority agrees, as this case does not involve the "construction" of a home, or a structure, or anything else. It simply requires the reconfiguration of real property. As discussed in Section VI.C.2 below, West Virginia law concerning tortious damages to real property likewise supports awarding only diminution of damages in the circumstances presented here.

Virginia – have long recognized that diminution in value damages represents the proper measure of damages when the cost of repair or completion of the property or structure at issue is grossly disproportionate to the diminution in value of that property or structure. This alternative method of calculating damages for breach of contract claims, sometimes called the “gross disproportionality rule” or the “economic waste doctrine,” extends back to at least 1921 in Justice Benjamin Cardozo’s seminal opinion in Jacobs & Youngs, Inc. v. Kent, 129 N.E. 889, 891 (N.Y. 1921), in which he concluded that “[t]he owner is entitled to the money which will permit him to complete, unless the cost of completion is grossly and unfairly out of proportion to the good to be attained. When that is true, the measure is the difference in value.” Justice Cardozo concluded that, “[i]n the circumstances of this case, we think the measure of the allowance is not the cost of replacement, which would be great, but the difference in value, which would be either nominal or nothing.”¹¹ Jacobs & Youngs, Inc., 129 N.E. at 891. See also Peevyhouse v. Garland Coal & Mining Co., 382 P.2d 109, 113 (Okla. 1962) (ruling that while “the measure of damages in an action for . . . breach of contract is ordinarily the reasonable cost of performance of the work[,] . . . where the economic benefit which would result to the [non-breaching party] by full performance of the work is grossly disproportionate to the cost of performance, the damages to which [the non-breaching party] may recover are limited to the diminution in value resulting to the premises because of the non-performance.”).

The gross disproportionality rule has been recognized for so long because it avoids what the law abhors and what Corotoman seeks in this case: unjust enrichment and economic waste.

¹¹ While the phrase “economic waste” does not appear in Jacobs & Youngs, courts generally consider Justice Cardozo’s opinion to be the origin of the “economic waste doctrine.” See Ross Dress for Less, Inc. v. Markarios-Oregon, LLC, 512 F. Supp. 3d 1138, 1155–1156 (D. Or. 2021) (reversed on other grounds related to calculation of pretrial interest.).

1. The gross disproportionality rule avoids unjust enrichment and economic waste.

Courts that apply the gross disproportionality rule seek to avoid unjust enrichment or economic waste. See Jacobs & Youngs, Inc., 129 N.E. 889 (N.Y. 1921). The Restatement (Second) of Contracts provides the current iteration of the gross disproportionality rule (or economic waste doctrine) first articulated in Jacobs & Youngs:

- (2) If a breach results in defective or unfinished construction and the loss in value to the injured party is not proved with sufficient certainty, he may recover damages based on:
 - (a) the diminution in the market price of the property caused by the breach, or
 - (b) the reasonable cost of completing performance or of remedying the defects *if that cost is not clearly disproportionate to the probable loss in value to him.*

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 348(2) (Am. Law Inst. 1981) (emphasis added). Further, Comment (c) explains the relationship between the language in this section and the doctrine of economic waste:

Sometimes, especially if the performance is defective as distinguished from incomplete, it may not be possible to prove the loss in value to the injured party with reasonable certainty. In that case he can usually recover damages based on the cost to remedy the defects. Even if this gives him a recovery *somewhat in excess* of the loss in value to him, it is better that he receive a *small windfall* than that he be undercompensated by being limited to the resulting diminution in the market price of his property.

Sometimes, however, such a large part of the cost to remedy the defects consists of the cost to undo what has been improperly done that *the cost to remedy the defects will be clearly disproportionate to the probable loss in value to the injured party. Damages based on the cost to remedy the defects would then give the injured party a recovery greatly in excess of the loss in value to him and result in a substantial windfall. Such an award will not be made. It is sometimes said that the award would involve "economic waste," but this is a misleading expression since an injured party will not, even if awarded an excessive amount of damages, usually pay to have the*

defects remedied if to do so will cost him more than the resulting increase in value to him. If an award based on the cost to remedy the defects would clearly be excessive and the injured party does not prove the actual loss in value to him, damages will be based instead on the difference between the market price that the property would have had without the defects and the market price of the property with the defects. This diminution in market price is the least possible loss in value to the injured party, since he could always sell the property on the market even if it had no special value to him.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 348(2), cmt. c (Am. Law Inst. 1981) (emphasis added).

In short, the law avoids awarding damages that either (1) result in unjust enrichment of the party seeking damages or (2) represent economic waste. See, e.g., Nichols Constr. Coro. v. Va. Mach. Tool Co., LLC, 661 S.E.2d 467, 472 (Va. 2008) (citations omitted) (ruling that, under Virginia law, “the cost measure [of damages] is appropriate unless the cost to repair . . . would involve unreasonable economic waste.” (citations omitted)); Gilbert v. Tony Russell Constr., 772 P.2d 242, 246 (Idaho 1989) (holding that, under Idaho law, the gross disproportionality rule should apply when “the ordinary measure would be disproportionate to the loss in value or to the benefits of a full repair, i.e. economically wasteful or result in a windfall.”). Here, Corotoman seeks an exorbitant financial windfall in the form of the cost to complete overblasting work that will never be completed, on properties that were never exchanged, that would have resulted in a contiguous parcel of land that will never exist, and that constitutes a classic case of economic waste. As noted by the District Court “the property swap cannot occur because the FAA refused to approve the transfer of Airport property[,]”¹² and “Corotoman elected not to present evidence or seek damages for the Airport Authority’s breach of contract related to the property swap[,]” which means that “the cost to complete an overblast that is impractical and will not be performed is not an accurate

¹² In light of the fact that the property swap did not and cannot occur, the Corotoman Property is checkerboarded with interspersed parcels owned by the Airport Authority.

reflection of the damages actually incurred as a result of the breach.” JA 2283-2284. Put another way, Corotoman openly seeks damages based on a speculative scenario that could never exist.¹³

The District Court recognized as much when it stated that such a solution would simply “penalize the Airport and act as a windfall to Corotoman, rather than placing Corotoman in the position it would be in absent the breach.” This point is further highlighted by the fact that Corotoman entered Chapter 7 liquidation after it filed its claims against the Airport Authority, meaning that any award of damages will not go towards the overblasting work or anything else to do with Corotoman’s business. Instead, it will go to Corotoman’s creditors, with Katherine Wellford, the wife of John Wellford, the principal of Corotoman until his recent imprisonment, standing at the front of the line. S. App. at 0001-0002.

To aid in its analysis, the District Court correctly found BLB Aviation S.C., LLC v. Jet Linx Aviation, LLC, 808 F.3d 389, 391 (8th Cir. 2015), instructive:

[T]he Eighth Circuit addressed the measure of damages where an airplane lessee breached a contract by failing to keep maintenance and repair records required for regulatory compliance. . . . The lessor sought damages equaling the cost to re-do the maintenance, but there was evidence establishing that other, less costly, alternatives were available to remedy the breach and bring the aircraft back into regulatory compliance. Id. at 394 (also noting that the aircraft had been sold and the lessor would therefore not be performing any repairs). The Eighth Circuit, applying Nebraska law, explained that the ‘cost of repair supplies the default measure unless the breaching party shows that economic waste would result,’ in which case diminution of value may be applied. Id. at 393. Because the cost to repair, as presented by the plaintiff based on the cost to redo the maintenance work, ‘would result in windfall and, therefore, in economic waste,’ the Eighth Circuit found that ‘[d]iminution in

¹³ Notably, Corotoman undoubtedly knew that the value of its property in a condemnation proceeding based upon a property swap that could not occur and some kind of unspecified future development would be rejected as too speculative and uncertain. See W. Va. DOT v. CDS Family Trust, LLC, 807 S.E.2d 780, 788 (W. Va. 2017) (court rejected using only value of future mitigation credits for a mitigation bank to be developed on condemned property as a value of the property because such credits are only “a factor would be weighed in negotiations between private persons participating in a voluntary sale and purchase of the land at the time it was taken.”).

value thus provides the appropriate measure of damages.’ Id. at 394. Neither party had ‘presented non-speculative evidence of any diminution in value for either aircraft,’ and, because ‘the burden of proving the amount of damages with sufficient certainty fell to [the plaintiff,’ the Eighth Circuit affirmed the district court’s refusal to award damages following a bench trial. Id. at 394-95.

JA 5129-5130. While not strictly a construction contract case, Corotoman’s efforts to distinguish BLB Aviation still fall short. Petitioner’s Opening Brief at 25 fn. 3. While the facts of BLB Aviation are particular and unique, the reasoning applies with equal force to the legal issues presented by the Fourth Circuit’s certified questions here because, much like maintenance would never occur on airplanes that the plaintiff no longer owned in BLB Aviation, the overblast work will never occur on parcels of property that Corotoman does not and will never own. In that sense, Nebraska law aligns with that of West Virginia, both of which adopt damages principles that avoid unjust enrichment and economic waste.

2. West Virginia law has long recognized the gross disproportionality rule.

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